**RECEIVED**

**May 03 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-000027

---

Derek Calhoun and Jacqueline Calhoun ..... *Appellants,*

vs.

State of South Carolina, by and through City of North Myrtle Beach ..... *Respondent.*

---

**[FINAL] BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

**Wright, Worley, Pope, Ekster & Moss, PLLC**  
*Attorneys for the Appellants*

Kenneth R. Moss, Esquire, SC Bar No. 15520  
628A Sea Mountain Highway  
North Myrtle Beach, SC 29582  
Tel: 843/ 281-9901/ Fax: 843/ 281-9903

**I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- A. Did the lower Courts err in denying the Appellants' Motion for Change of Venue?
- B. Did the lower Courts err in finding that S.C. Code Ann. §22-3-920 does not apply to municipal courts?
- C. Did the lower Court err in finding that Appellants' affidavit submitted to the municipal court does not constitute sufficient grounds for either a change of venue or disqualification of the municipal judge when the issues were not before the Court on appeal?

**II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This action is before this Court on appeal from Orders of the Horry County Court of Common Pleas, the Honorable Kristi F. Curtis presiding in Case No. 2022-CP-26-05002. (R. pp. 4–12.) Specifically, the action was before the Court of Common Pleas on appeal (R. pp. 13–15) from the Order of the North Myrtle Beach Municipal Court (R. pp. 2–3), the Honorable Dean Mureddu Presiding in Case Nos. 18514EF, 2022-1850166173, and 20221850166174 (R. pp. 17–19), in which Appellants' Motions for Change of Venue pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 22-3-920 (1976, 19th ed.) (R. pp. 38–43; R. pp. 70–75) were denied. (R. pp. 2–3; R. p. 16.) The Municipal Court denied Appellants' timely filed motion and affidavits seeking a change of venue pursuant to S.C. Code § 22-3-920. (R. p. 2–3; R. p. 16; R. pp. 38–43; R. pp. 70–75.) Oral arguments upon Appellants' affidavits (R. pp. 70–75), which the Municipal Court treated as *de facto* motions seeking change of venue (R. pp. 2–3; R. p. 16), were scheduled and heard before the Honorable Dean Mureddu on August 03, 2022. (R. pp. 2–3; R. p. 16.) The Municipal Court issued its oral decision denying said motions. (R. p. 16.) It is also particularly noteworthy that the very same Municipal Court has taken inconsistent positions as to its duty to change venue under § 22-3-920 and the applicability of the statute to municipal courts. (R. pp. 57, lines 11–22.)

Appellants timely filed a Notice of Appeal from the Municipal Court on August 5, 2022. (R. pp. 13–15.) On December 1, 2022, the Court of Common Pleas heard oral arguments on this Appeal from the parties and their respective counsel. (R. pp. 55–69.) Also, before said Court were Exhibits and Affidavits filed by Appellants in support of their Motion for Change of Venue and this Appeal. (R. pp. 70–81.) After oral argument, on December 5, 2022, the Honorable Judge Kristi Curtis issued a Form 4 Order taking the matter under advisement. Then on December 12, 2022, the Honorable Judge Kristi F. Curtis issued a Form 4 Order dismissing Appellants’ appeal and affirming the Municipal Court’s Order. (R. pp. 4–6; R. p. 46–48.) Specifically, Judge Curtis made the following findings:

Respondent’s appeal from the denial of his motion for a change of venue is DENIED. The decision of the municipal court is affirmed. I find that S.C. Code Ann. § 22-3-920 does not apply to municipal courts. I further find that Respondent's affidavit submitted to the municipal court does not constitute sufficient grounds for either a change of venue or disqualification of the municipal judge.

(R. p. 4; R. p. 46.) Thereafter, on December 21, 2022, Appellants timely filed a Motion to Reconsider the December 12, 2022 Order, with exhibits. (R. pp. 20–43.) On December 29, 2022, the Honorable Kristi F. Curtis issued two (2) Form 4 Orders, one which Denied Appellants’ Motion to Reconsider (R. pp. 10–12; R. pp. 49–51) and a second which affirmed the Municipal Courts’ ruling and fixed clerical errors in the original December 12, 2022 Form 4 Order (R. pp. 7–9; R. pp. 52–54). Appellants timely filed a Notice of Appeal on January 6, 2023 (R. pp. 44–54), transcripts of the proceedings were ordered, and then received on January 26, 2023.

### **III. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006); State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001); State v. Wood, 362 S.C. 520, 608 S.E.2d 435 (Ct. App. 2004). This court is bound by the trial

court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 527 S.E.2d 105 (2000); State v. Amerson, 311 S.C. 316, 428 S.E.2d 871 (1993); State v. Landis, 362 S.C. 97, 606 S.E.2d 503 (Ct. App. 2004). "In criminal cases, appellate courts are bound by fact finding in response to preliminary motions where there has been conflicting testimony or where the findings are supported by the evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by an error of law." State v. Asbury, 328 S.C. 187, 193, 493 S.E.2d 349, 352 (1997) (citing State v. Amerson, 311 S.C. at 320, 428 S.E.2d at 873); State v. Franklin, 299 S.C. 133, 138, 382 S.E.2d 911, 914 (1989). "When reviewing a trial court's ruling concerning voluntariness, this Court does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial court's ruling is supported by any evidence." State v. Saltz, 346 S. Ct. 114, 136, 551 S.E.2d 240, 252 (2001); State v. Breeze, 379 S.C. 538, 543, 665 S.E.2d 247, 250 (Ct. App. 2008); State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 378-79, 652 S.E.2d 444, 448 (Ct. App. 2007); State v. Parker, 381 S.C. 68, 671 S.E.2d 619 (Ct. App. 2008).

S.C. Code § 22-2-170 provides expressly: "[m]agistrates shall have jurisdiction throughout the county in which they are appointed. Criminal cases shall be tried in the Jury Area where the offense was committed, subject to a change of venue, pursuant to the provisions of Section 22-3-920...." *Opinion questioning the location for a jury trial in a magistrate's court.* (Op. S.C. Att'y Gen., Feb. 10, 1987.)

This court, in the recent case of the *State v. Conkle and Others*, 64 S.C. 372, has held that when a party under the foregoing statutory provision has complied fully with its requirements, such party has the right to demand a change of venue therein secured; in other words, it is mandatory upon the magistrate to change the venue, and not discretionary. The statutory provision is mandatory upon all.

Bacot v. Deas, 67 S.C. 245, 45 S.E. 171 (1903).

#### IV. ARGUMENT

##### A. **The lower Court erred in affirming the Municipal Court's order denying the Appellants' Motion for Change of Venue.**

Appellants believe that the findings in the lower Court's Orders are in contradiction of South Carolina statutory and common law. S.C. Code Ann. § 22-3-920 states:

[w]henver in a case in the court of a magistrate (a) either party in a civil case, after giving to the adverse party two days' notice that he intends to apply for a change of venue or (b) **the prosecutor or accused in a criminal case shall file with the magistrate issuing the warrant or summons an affidavit to the effect that he does not believe he can obtain a fair trial before the magistrate and setting forth the grounds of such belief, the papers shall be turned over to the nearest magistrate not disqualified from hearing the cause in the county, who shall proceed to try the case as if he had issued the warrant or summons.** But in counties in which magistrates have separate and exclusive territorial jurisdiction the change of venue shall be to another magistrate's district in the same county. One such transfer only shall be allowed each party in any case.

*(Bold and underlined emphasis added.)*

It is well settled law in South Carolina that:

... when a party under the foregoing statutory provision has complied fully with its requirements, such party has the right to demand a change of venue therein secured; in other words, it is mandatory upon the magistrate to change the venue, and not discretionary. The statutory provision is mandatory upon all.

Bacot v. Deas, 67 S.C. 245, 45 S.E. 171 (1903). An affidavit is sufficient and complies with § 22-3-920 if the facts stated within it were false, then the affidavit would form the basis for an indictment of perjury. See, State v. Barnett, 98 S.C. 422, 427, 82 S.E. 795, 797 (1914); see also, State v. Conkle and Others, 64 S.C. 371, 42 S.E. 173 (1902). Therefore, if a Defendant submits an affidavit in support of a motion for change of venue that sets forth factual allegations, that if false would form a basis for perjury, then the affidavit is sufficient, and the judge must grant the motion. Barnett, supra.

It is clear from South Carolina Jurisprudence that it is obligatory for the Judge to grant the motion when the Defendant has complied with S.C. Code Ann. § 22-3-920. The Judge does not exercise discretion in whether or not to grant the motion but instead **must** grant the motion. Id. Here, Appellants have clearly complied with the subject provisions of § 22-3-920 (1976) (R. p. 32; R. p. 76) as will be more specifically argued below.

**B. The lower Courts erred in finding that S.C. Code Ann. § 22-3-920 does not apply to municipal courts.**

There is a plethora of authority in South Carolina that supports the Appellants' position that § 22-3-920 applies to municipal courts and judges the same as it does to magistrates. S.C. Code Ann. § 14-25-45 expressly states:

[e]ach municipal court shall have jurisdiction to try all cases arising under the ordinances of the municipality for which established. **The court shall also have all such powers, duties and jurisdiction in criminal cases made under state law and conferred upon magistrates.** The court shall have the power to punish for contempt of court by imposition of sentences up to the limits imposed on municipal courts. The court shall have no jurisdiction in civil matters.

*(Bold and underlined emphasis added.)* (R. p. 33; R. p. 77.) The South Carolina Judicial Department has further stated in the Summary Court Bench Book that “[t]he powers and duties of a municipal judge are the same as those of a magistrate....” S.C. Summary Court Bench Book, Section A(2)(g) (R. p. 34; R. p. 78). Specifically, the Office of the Attorney General has opined that other provisions of S.C. Code Title 22, Chapter 3 apply to municipal Judges:

[a]s for arrest warrants, § 22-3-710 provides that “[a]ll proceedings before magistrates in criminal cases shall be commenced under oath, plainly and substantially setting forth the offense charged, upon which, and only which, shall a warrant of arrest issue.” **This section applies to municipal judges as well. See § 14-25-45 (“Each municipal court shall ... have all such powers, duties and jurisdiction in criminal cases made under state law and conferred upon magistrates”).**

*(Bold and underlined emphasis added.) Opinion as to whether a municipal judge may sign arrest and search warrants at his or her residence which is located outside the boundaries of the municipality over which he or she has jurisdiction. (Op. S.C. Att’y Gen., Aug. 20, 2013.)* In applying a provision of Title 22, Chapter 3 the Attorney General opined that:

In light of the common law and statutory rule that municipal judges have the same duties and follow the same practices prescribed for magistrates in criminal cases, we advise municipal judges to ensure that witness testimony is taken in a manner consistent with section 22-3-790 in all cases where the right to use the services of a court reporter has not been exercised by either party pursuant to section 14-25-195.

*Opinion concerning the right of an individual who receives a judgment or sentence in municipal court to obtain a transcript or tape recording of the proceeding for purposes of an appeal. (Op. S.C. Att’y Gen., Feb. 28, 2012.)*

Once again, the Attorney General opined that the limitation on the amount of community service that magistrates may impose on a suspended sentence under § 22-3-800 is applicable to municipal judges. Specifically:

[w]hile this limitation does not appear in Section 14-25-75 which grants municipal court judges the power to impose conditions on suspended sentences, Section 14-25-45 provides that ‘[t]he [municipal] court shall also have all such powers, duties and jurisdiction in criminal cases made under state law and conferred upon magistrates.’ This Office has previously opined that constraints placed upon the sentencing powers of magistrates are also applicable to municipal court judges as the result of the provisions of Section 14-25-45. SEE OP. ATTY. GEN. DATED MARCH 27, 1995. Therefore, it would be the opinion of this Office that the constraints of Section 22-3-800 regarding community service hours are also applicable to municipal court judges.

*Opinion requesting “... the opinion of the SC Attorney General on the maximum time limitation that a municipal court judge can impose conditions on suspended sentences.” (Op. S.C. Att’y Gen., Oct. 28, 2002.)* As further clarified by the Attorney General:

Section 22-3-930 states: ... Such provision is applicable to criminal and civil cases before a magistrate. Such provision is also applicable to municipal court judges inasmuch as S.C. Code Ann. § 14-25-45 states that the municipal court "... shall also have all such powers, duties and jurisdiction in criminal cases made under state law and conferred upon magistrates."

*Opinion questioning whether an individual charged with the offense of issuing a fraudulent check or any offense for which a uniform traffic ticket may be utilized is required to be brought in for a booking process whereby photographs and fingerprints are obtained.* (Op. S.C. Att’y Gen., Mar. 15, 2006.) (R. pp. 35–37; R. pp. 79–81.)

South Carolina common law further solidifies that § 22-3-920 (R. p. 32; R. p. 76) applies to municipal judges the same as it does magistrates, due to § 14-25-45 (R. p. 33; R. p. 77). The Supreme Court of South Carolina implicitly held that a motion for change of venue (i.e., § 22-3-920) applies to municipal judges in the case of City of Sumter v. Owens, 181 S.C. 540, 543, 188 S.E. 192 (1936). In City of Sumter, the Supreme Court heard arguments as to the sufficiency of the affidavit submitted in support of the Defendant’s motion for change of venue based upon his belief that he could not obtain a fair trial. The Supreme Court in City of Sumter ruled that the affidavit in that case was insufficient as it did not have factual allegations. Thereby, the Supreme Court tacitly and essentially held that a motion to change venue under § 22-3-920 applied to municipal courts and judges.

Here, it is clear from the extensive authority cited in the preceding paragraphs that § 22-3-920 does apply to municipal courts and judges the same as it does magistrates by operation of § 14-25-45. The Supreme Court of South Carolina settled this issue in 1936 in City of Sumter, supra, by ruling on an appeal from the City of Sumter’s Municipal Court. There, the municipal judge denied a Defendant’s motion for change of venue based on the sufficiency of the Defendant’s affidavit in support of said motion. The South Carolina Attorney General has further enshrined

the Supreme Court's holding by issuing numerous opinions that the powers and duties under Title 22, Chapter 3 of the *South Carolina Code of Laws* apply to municipal judges the same as it does magistrates. Specifically, the Attorney General has opined that §§ 22-3-930, 22-3-800, 22-3-790, and 22-3-710 all apply to municipal courts by operation of § 14-25-45. Respectfully, the lower courts have not cited any authority to support their findings that § 22-3-920 does not apply to municipal courts or judges.

Therefore, Appellants respectfully request this Court overturn the lower court's Orders (R. pp. 4–11), based on the overwhelming weight of the authority in support of Appellants' position that § 22-3-920 applies to municipal courts and judges.

**C. The lower court erred in finding that Appellants' affidavits submitted to the municipal court does not constitute sufficient grounds for either a change of venue or disqualification of the municipal judge, when the issue was not before the Court on appeal.**

It is clear that the lower court erred in finding that Appellants' affidavits in support of their motion for change of venue were insufficient. (R. pp. 4–9.) "The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the *Record on Appeal*." Rule 220(c), *SCACR*. "In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only." State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006); State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001); State v. Wood, 362 S.C. 520, 608 S.E.2d 435 (Ct. App. 2004). This court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 527 S.E.2d 105 (2000); State v. Amerson, 311 S.C. 316, 428 S.E.2d 871 (1993); State v. Landis, 362 S.C. 97, 606 S.E.2d 503 (Ct. App. 2004).

The trial court made no findings as to the sufficiency of the affidavits when they were presented to the court. (R. pp. 55–69; R. p. 63, lines 22–23; R. p. 64, lines 5–8.) Therefore, it can be said that the trial court implicitly found that the affidavits were sufficient. The trial court simply

found that § 22-3-920 did not apply to municipal courts (R. pp. 2–3) and that finding was appealed to the lower court. (R. pp. 13–15.) Nothing about the sufficiency of the affidavits was part of the record on appeal before the lower court. (R. pp. 55–69; R. p. 63, lines 22–23; R. pp. 64, lines 5–8.) Thus, the lower court erred in affirming the trial court’s order upon grounds that did not appear in the record (R. pp. 4–9), as required by Rule 220(c). Respectfully, Appellants ask that the lower court’s finding as to such be overturned. If this Court does not find it error to make such finding as to the sufficiency of the Appellants’ affidavits (R. pp. 4–9) when not before the court (R. pp. 55–69; R. pp. 63, lines 22–23; R. p. 64, lines 5–8), the lower court’s finding as to sufficiency still must be overturned on the merits. State v. Brown, 358 S.C. 382, 387, 596 S.E.2d 39.

It is clear from the record in this case as well as the statutory and common law of South Carolina that Appellants filed sufficient affidavits in support of their motion for change of venue. (R. pp. 38–43; R. pp. 70–75.) The law requires that the Defendant moving for change of venue must submit an affidavit alleging facts as to why he/she may not obtain a fair trial (R. p. 14; R. p. 32; R. p. 76) and the facts contained therein, if false, would support a basis for perjury. It is further settled that when a sufficient affidavit is filed it is mandatory that the magistrate or municipal judge must grant the motion to change venue. (R. p. 14; R. p. 32; R. p. 76.) Here, Appellants have clearly filed affidavits with facts that, if false, would form a basis for perjury. (R. pp. R. 38–43; R. pp. 70–75.) Here, Appellants filed affidavits in support of their motion for change of venue, in which they allege that “... that the City Attorney and the Mayor of the City of North Myrtle Beach have taken a personal interest in the outcome of my case, as has been indicated to me in direct conversations between us....” (R. p. 38, ¶ 6; p. 40, ¶ 6; p. 42, ¶ 6; R. p. 70, ¶ 6; R. p. 72, ¶ 6; R. p. 74, ¶ 6.) Appellants further alleged:

... based upon my direct conversations with Public Safety officers of North Myrtle Beach and with the City Attorney for North Myrtle Beach that the City Attorney was directly involved in the decision

to issue me a citation and was personally involved in giving either direct or relayed orders to North Myrtle Beach Public Safety personnel because stopping my company and I were a “top priority for the city.”

(R. p. 38, ¶ 7; p. 40, ¶ 7; p. 42, ¶ 7; R. p. 70, ¶ 7; R. p. 72, ¶ 7; R. p. 74, ¶ 7.)

Here, it is clear that if Appellants’ allegations, that based on their direct conversations with Public Safety Officers of the City of North Myrtle Beach and the City Attorney that stopping their company was a top priority (R. p. 38, ¶ 7; p. 40, ¶ 7; p. 42, ¶ 7; R. p. 70, ¶ 7; R. p. 72, ¶ 7; R. p. 74, ¶ 7), were false, then said statements could form a basis for perjury. Furthermore, if Appellants’ factual allegations that the Mayor and City Attorney have taken a personal interest in their case (R. p. 38, ¶ 6; p. 40, ¶ 6; p. 42, ¶ 6; R. p. 70, ¶ 6; R. p. 72, ¶ 6; R. p. 74, ¶ 6) were false, said allegations could form a basis for perjury. Therefore, it is clear from the Appellants’ affidavits in support of their motions for change of venue (R. pp. 38–43; R. pp. 70–75) that the factual allegations contained therein are sufficient to comply with § 22-3-920 and thus it is mandatory for the municipal judge to grant the motion.

**V. CONCLUSION**

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