**RECEIVED**

**May 16 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-000027

---

Derek Calhoun and Jacqueline Calhoun, .....Appellants,

v.

State of South Carolina, by and through City of North  
Myrtle Beach, ..... Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Kirsten E. Small, SC Bar No. 75681  
Nexsen Pruet, LLC  
104 S. Main Street, 9th Floor  
Greenville, South Carolina 29601  
(864) 370-2211  
KSmall@nexsenpruet.com

Francis A. Humphries, Jr., SC Bar No. 12921  
Monckton, Hembree & Humphries, P.A.

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. Standard of Review

“In criminal cases, this Court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by factual findings of the trial court unless an abuse of discretion is shown.” *State v. Laney*, 367 S.C. 639, 643, 627 S.E.2d 726, 729 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs when the court’s decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. *See State v. Black*, 400 S.C. 10, 16, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012).

### II. The Appeal Should Be Dismissed Because an Order Denying a Change of Venue Is Not Immediately Appealable

This Court’s appellate jurisdiction is controlled by S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330, which provides that “[o]nly final judgments and certain interlocutory orders are appealable.” *Burkey v. Noce*, 398 S.C. 35, 37, 726 S.E.2d 229, 230 (Ct. App. 2012). An interlocutory order is appealable under § 14-3-330 only if it involves the merits of the case or affects a substantial right. *See id.* Section 14-3-330’s strictures on appellate jurisdiction apply in criminal cases (like this one) as well as in civil cases. *See State v. Wilson*, 387 S.C. 597, 600, 693 S.E.2d 923, 924–25 (2010) (analyzing appealability under § 14-3-330 in a criminal case).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has squarely held that § 14-3-330 does not permit an immediate appeal of an order denying a change of venue. *See Breland v. Love Chevrolet Olds, Inc.*, 339 S.C. 89, 92, 529 S.E.2d 11, 12–13 (2000). In *Breland*, the defendant in a wrongful death action moved for a change of venue on the grounds that it was not a resident of Hampton County, where the case was pending. The circuit court denied

the motion and the defendant appealed, arguing that the order was immediately appealable under § 14-3-330(C) because “the trial court’s order affected [its] substantial right to venue in the county of [its] residence and the refusal to transfer venue effectively struck out a portion of [its] answer.” *Id.* at 92, 529 S.E.2d at 12; *see* S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2)(c) (providing that a party may appeal “[a]n order affecting a substantial right made in an action when such order ... (c) strikes out an answer or any part thereof or any pleading in any action”).

The Supreme Court rejected this argument, holding that “[t]he trial court’s order [denying a change of venue] did not ‘affect’ the Defendant’s right to venue in the county of its residence because any error in the order can be corrected on appeal following the trial.” *Breland*, 339 S.C. at 93, 529 S.E.2d at 13. An order affects a substantial right, and is immediately appealable under § 14-3-330(2)(c), “in situations where the substantial right could not be vindicated on appeal after the case,” such as an order affecting the mode of trial. *Id.*

Emphasizing the strong policy against piecemeal appeals, the Court concluded that “requiring a defendant to wait until after trial to appeal the issue of proper venue is the most appropriate course to take where any error in that decision will not prejudice the defendant anymore [sic] than other interlocutory orders which, if in error, would require a new trial” *Id.* at 94, 529 S.E.2d at 14. Thus, “[e]ven though proper venue is a substantial right ... avoidance of a trial is not a sufficient reason to justify immediate appellate review.” *Id.*

*Breland* is controlling, and it establishes that this Court lacks jurisdiction over this appeal. Accordingly, the appeal should be dismissed.

### III. S.C. Code Ann. § 22-3-920 Does Not Apply to Municipal Courts

Whether § 22-3-920 applies to municipal courts is a question of statutory construction. “The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature,” and “the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will.” *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000) (internal quotation marks omitted). Where a statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, the Court has no right to impose another meaning. *Id.* “Statutes in apparent conflict should, if reasonably possible, be construed to allow both to stand and to give effect to each.” *I’On v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 412, 526 S.E.2d 716, 719 (2000). Moreover, “[h]owever plain the ordinary meaning of the words used in a statute may be, the courts will reject that meaning when to accept it would lead to a result so plainly absurd that it could not possibly have been intended by the Legislature or would defeat the plain legislative intention.” *Kiriakides v. United Artists Commc’ns, Inc.*, 312 S.C. 271, 275, 440 S.E.2d 364, 366 (1994).

The Calhouns contend that “§ 22-3-920 applies to municipal courts and judges the same as it does to magistrates” because § 14-25-45 confers on municipal courts the same “powers, duties, and jurisdiction in criminal cases” as those “conferred on magistrates.” (Appellants’ Br. at 7 (quoting S.C. Code Ann. § 14-25-45).) The Calhouns reason that just as § 22-3-920 authorizes a magistrate to transfer a criminal case to a

magistrate within the same county, by virtue of § 14-25-45 a municipal court has the same “jurisdiction” and therefore must likewise be authorized to transfer a criminal case to a magistrate within the same county. To support their argument, the Calhouns cite cases and Attorney General Opinions for the general proposition that pursuant to § 14-25-45, a municipal court’s “jurisdiction” is the same as that of a magistrate. (Appellants’ Br. at 8-10.)

The Calhouns’ argument fails because it conflates territorial jurisdiction and subject matter jurisdiction, which are “separate and distinct concepts.” *State v. Boswell*, 391 S.C. 592, 599, 707 S.E.2d 265, 268 (2011). As the Supreme Court explained in *Boswell*, “subject matter jurisdiction is the authority granted through the constitution or statute to adjudicate a class of cases or controversies,” while “territorial jurisdiction is the authority over persons, things or occurrences located in a defined geographical area.” *Id.* (citing *Smith v. Commonwealth*, 56 Va. App. 351, 693 S.E.2d 765, 769 (2010)). “[T]erritorial jurisdiction is not a component of subject matter jurisdiction.” *State v. Dudley*, 364 S.C. 578, 582, 614 S.E.2d 623, 625 (2005).

This distinction is fatal to the Calhouns’ appeal. Their argument is that the “jurisdiction” conferred by § 14-25-45 enables a municipal court to transfer a criminal case to a magistrate in the same county under § 22-3-920. This can only be correct if § 14-25-45 refers to *territorial*, rather than *subject matter* jurisdiction. Otherwise, a municipal court would have no authority to transfer a case to any court outside the municipality. *See, e.g.*, 1980 S.C. Op. Att’y Gen., 1980 WL 120972, at \*1 (S.C.A.G. Nov. 18, 1980) (“Generally, the corporate limits of a municipality are considered as the limits of

the territorial jurisdiction of municipal courts.”).

However, settled law establishes that the reference to “jurisdiction” in § 14-25-45 is to *subject matter*, not *territorial*, jurisdiction. See *City of Camden v. Brassell*, 326 S.C. 556, 562–63, 486 S.E.2d 492, 496 (Ct. App. 1997) (citing § 14-25-45 for the proposition that “magistrate and municipal courts would have *subject matter* jurisdiction over a first offense driving under the influence charge if committed by an adult” (emphasis added)); *City of Pickens v. Schmitz*, 297 S.C. 253, 256, 376 S.E.2d 271, 272 (1989) (holding municipal courts have “uniform jurisdiction,” as required by S.C. Const. art. V, § 1, because all municipal courts in South Carolina have the same *subject matter* jurisdiction); see also 1987 S.C. Op. Att’y Gen. 219, 1987 WL 245491, at \*1 (1987) (“Pursuant to Section 14-25-45 of the Code, municipal judges have the same *subject matter* jurisdiction” as magistrates. (emphasis added)).

None of the cases and Attorney General opinions on which the Calhouns rely suggests, contrary to the authority cited above, that § 14-25-45 concerns territorial, rather than subject matter, jurisdiction. In fact, at least two Attorney General Opinions have reached the opposite conclusion, opining that a municipal court *cannot* transfer a case to a magistrate. For example, in a 1979 opinion concerning the predecessor to § 22-3-920, the Attorney General’s Office opined that “a change of venue from municipal court to a magistrate’s court is not authorized.” 1979 S.C. Op. Att’y Gen., 1979 WL 43050, at \*1 (S.C.A.G. June 6, 1979). That opinion relied on an earlier Attorney General Opinion stating, “Section 43-131 [now codified as § 22-3-920], providing for change of venue in certain cases, has to do with magistrates’ courts only ... there is no provision

of law requiring or permitting the transfer of a criminal case from a town court to a magistrate." 1972 S.C. Op. Att'y Gen., 1972 WL 26003, at \*1 (S.C.A.G. Oct. 6, 1972).

The municipal court in this case cogently explained why § 22-3-920 does not apply to municipal courts:

First, the statute in question, and the entire Title 22, deal specifically with Magistrates Courts and/or Constables. Municipal Courts are not directly referenced within the statute or this title. Second, while a change of venue between Magistrate Courts may be logistically seamless in nature, such a change of venue from Municipal Court is decidedly not. Municipal Courts are courts within a particular political subdivision and not part of the unified Magistrate Court system which operates and has jurisdiction throughout the county (a different political subdivision) in which it is situate. While both Municipal and Magistrate Courts are Summary Courts and have many similarities, they are not within the same political subdivision and the geographical limits of their jurisdiction is vastly different.

(R. p. 2 (Mun. Ct. Order, at 1).)

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should hold that § 22-3-920 does not apply to municipal courts.

#### **IV. The Calhouns Failed to Show Entitlement to a Change of Venue**

The circuit ruled in the alternative that even if S.C. Code Ann. § 22-3-920 applied to municipal courts, the affidavits submitted by the Calhouns were insufficient to make a change of venue mandatory under the statute. (R. p. 4 (Order of Dec. 11, 2022).) The Calhouns challenge this ruling, arguing that the sufficiency of the affidavits was not before the circuit court and that, regardless, their affidavits were sufficient to make a change of venue mandatory under § 22-3-920.

**A. The Circuit Court Properly Considered the Sufficiency of the Affidavits**

The Calhouns first argue that the circuit court lacked authority to rule on the sufficiency of their affidavits. They concede that “[t]he appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in” the record. Rule 220(c), SCACR. They contend, however, that “[t]he [municipal] court simply found that [§ ]22-3-920 did not apply to municipal courts and that finding was appealed to the [circuit] court, nothing about the sufficiency of the affidavits was part of the record on appeal before the [circuit] court.” (Appellants’ Br. at 11.) This argument is factually and legally incorrect.

First, as a factual matter, the sufficiency of the Calhouns’ affidavits was unquestionably raised *by the Calhouns* in both the municipal court and the circuit court. The municipal court’s order denying a change of venue noted the Calhouns’ contention that their affidavits were sufficient to satisfy the requirements of § 22-3-920. (R. p. 2 (Mun. Ct. Order, at 1); R. p. 60 (12/1/2022 Hrg. Tr. at 6:8-9 (stating that the affidavits were submitted to the municipal court)).) At the circuit court level, the Calhouns submitted their affidavits as exhibits and presented argument regarding their sufficiency at the hearing conducted on December 1, 2022. (R. pp. 38-43 (affidavits); R. p. 62 (12/1/2022 Hrg. Tr. at 8:15-24).) Moreover, the Calhouns contend in their brief that the municipal court “implicitly found that the affidavits were sufficient.” (Appellants’ Br. at 11.) Thus, the sufficiency of the affidavits was plainly before the municipal court and the circuit court.

The Calhouns are also wrong on the law. Their position appears to be that because the municipal court did not *explicitly* rule on the sufficiency of the affidavits, that issue cannot be part of the record on appeal to the circuit court. The Supreme Court has clearly held, however, that:

a respondent—the “winner” in the lower court—may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court’s ruling, *regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court*. It would be inefficient and pointless to require a respondent to return to the judge and ask for a ruling on other arguments to preserve them for appellate review.

*I’On*, 338 S.C. at 419, 526 S.E.2d at 723 (emphasis added). Because the Calhouns’ affidavits were presented to the municipal court and the circuit court, their insufficiency provides a ground for affirmance under Rule 220(c) even though the municipal court did not rule on their sufficiency.

#### **B. The Circuit Court Correctly Found the Affidavits Insufficient**

To be entitled to a change of venue, a criminal defendant must submit “an affidavit to the effect that he does not believe he can obtain a fair trial before the magistrate *and setting forth the grounds for such belief*.” S.C. Code Ann. § 22-3-920 (emphasis added). The affidavit must identify a “ground or fact showing that a fair trial could not be had before the magistrate,” *Witte v. Cave*, 73 S.C. 15, 52 S.E. 736, 737 (1905), *i.e.*, that there is “good cause for change of venue,” *Cromer v. Watson*, 59 S.C. 488, 38 S.E. 126, 128 (1901), although it need not provide a degree of proof that would “*convince* the magistrate.” *Bacot v. Deas*, 67 S.C. 245, 45 S.E. 171, 172 (1903) (emphasis added). It is sufficient if the statements in the affidavit are sufficiently concrete and particular “as

would form the basis of an indictment for perjury” if they were false. *Id.*<sup>1</sup>

Two cases illustrate the difference between a sufficient affidavit and an insufficient one. First, in *Startex v. Comer*, 184 S.C. 126, 191 S.E. 903 (1937), the affidavit claimed that the magistrate judge’s prejudice against the defendant “was so deep that in order to defeat the [defendant’s] rights he will” deliberately misstate the evidence, as he had done in similar cases against other defendants. *Id.* at 904. The Supreme Court found this was not sufficient because “the facts as to the charges sought to be made against the magistrate with regard to his reports of certain other cases ... are not stated with sufficient definiteness and fullness to warrant a reasonable inference that, if true as stated, such charges would be well-founded.” *Id.* at 905.

In contrast, the Supreme Court held the affidavit in *Browning Mfg. Co. v. Brunson*, 187 S.C. 278, 197 S.E. 311 (1938), was sufficient to entitle the defendant to a change of venue. In that case, the defendant alleged:

[I]ll-feeling has for some time existed and continues between this deponent and Magistrate William M. Reynolds, originating in angry words that passed between this deponent’s father and former business associate, the late W. E. Brunson, deceased, and the

---

<sup>1</sup> *Accord* 1975 S.C. Op. Att’y Gen., 1975 WL 28901, at \*1 (S.C.A.G. June 6, 1975) (“[I]n determining the sufficiency of the required affidavit, more than a mere opinion must be set forth. The affidavit must set forth substantial grounds for a belief that the party cannot obtain a fair trial.”); 1967 S.C. Op. Att’y Gen., 1967 WL 12012, at \*1 (S.C.A.G. Sept. 29, 1967) (“The affidavit must state reasons why a fair trial cannot be had before you and it should state facts, not opinions.”); 1964 S.C. Op. Att’y Gen. 222, 1964 WL 8353, at \*2 (1964) (“It is the opinion of this Office ... that ... [a] magistrate must grant change of venue if the required affidavit ... sets out sufficient facts to justify the belief that a fair trial cannot be obtained before the magistrate who issued the warrant. Opinions or beliefs of the person making the affidavit are not enough to make it mandatory that venue be changed.”).

said William M. Reynolds, growing out of dissatisfaction on the part of the Brunsons with reference to the manner in which the said William M. Reynolds, a practicing attorney, had handled certain legal matters about which the Brunsons had consulted him, and which they, therefore, withdrew from his hand.

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